
 
GRAND TRAVERSE COUNTY 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES BOARD 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
March 27, 2025 

 
Open to the public 

9:00 AM Garfield Township Hall – Feiger Room, 2nd Floor 
3848 Veterans Dr, Traverse City, MI 49684 

                                                                                                                                                           
Persons with disabilities which the foregoing opportunities for participation will not address should 
contact Darcey Gratton at (231) 932-3010 or dgratton@gtpavilions.org with questions or concerns.   

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER  
 

2. ROLL CALL  
 

3. FIRST PUBLIC COMMENT 
Any person shall be permitted to address a meeting of the Grand Traverse County Department of 
Health and Human Services Board which is required to be open to the public under the provisions 
of the Michigan Open Meetings Act, as amended.  (MCLA 15.261, et.seq.)  Public comment shall 
be carried out in accordance with the following Board Rules and Procedures: 

1. Any person wishing to address the Board shall state his or her name and address. 
2. Persons may address the Board on matters which are relevant to Grand Traverse 

Pavilions issues. 
3. No person shall be allowed to speak more than once on the same matter, excluding time 

needed to answer Board Members questions.  The Chairperson shall control the amount 
of time each person shall be allowed to speak, which shall not exceed three (3) minutes. 

a) Chairperson may, at his or her discretion, extend the amount of time any person is 
allowed to speak. 

b) Whenever a group wishes to address the Board, the Chairperson may require that 
the group designate a spokesperson; the Chairperson shall control the amount of 
time the spokesperson shall be allowed to speak, which shall not exceed fifteen 
(15) minutes. 

 
The Board shall not comment or respond to a person who is addressing the Board.  Silence or 
non-response from the Board should not be interpreted as disinterest or disagreement by the 
Board. 
 
Please be respectful and refrain from personal or political attacks. 
 

4. COUNTY LIAISON REPORT 
 

5. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

6. CONSENT CALENDAR 
The purpose of the consent calendar is to expedite business by grouping items to be dealt with by 

one Board motion without discussion.  Any member of the Board, or staff may ask that any item 

on the consent calendar be removed and placed elsewhere on the agenda for discussion.  Such 

requests will be automatically respected. 

 

 

Page 1 of 1



If any item is not removed from the consent calendar, the item on the agenda is approved by a 

single Board action adopting the consent calendar. 

 

A.  Review and File           HANDOUT# 
(1)       Draft Minutes of the 2/27/25 Board Meeting     1 
(2)       February Resident Council Minutes      2 

 
7. ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT CALENDAR 

 
8. CHAIRMAN REPORT         Verbal 

 

9. SERVICE EXCELLANCE AWARDS        3 
 

10. GRAND TRAVERSE MEDICAL CARE  
A.  General Information           

(1)      Cottage Masterplan Update       Verbal 
(2)      CEO Update         Verbal 

   
B.  Chief Executive Officer Board Report      4 

 
C.  Business 

(1)    Financials         5 

(2)       Request to Purchase – Mock Survey Agreement    6 

(3)       Request to Purchase – Aspen & Birch Roof     7 

(4)       Request to Purchase – Dump Trailer      8 

 

11. Medical Staff 
(1) Michael Norwick, NP for Longevity      9 

(2) Leah Buckingham, NP for Longevity      10 

(3) Chaz Casey, PA for Longevity       11 

        

G.T.P. Announcements   
(1)     Next Board Meeting – April 24, 2025 

      
12. SECOND PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
Refer to Rules under First Public Comment above. 

 
13. ADJOURNMENT 

Page 2 of 77



DRAFT  

 

1 
 

GRAND TRAVERSE COUNTY 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES BOARD 

1000 Pavilions Circle, Traverse City, MI 49684 
 

MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 27, 2025 MEETING 

 
PRESENT: Mary Marois, Carol Crawford, Karen Griggs       Board  
  Dave Hautamaki, Lindsey Dood, Darcey Gratton      Staff  
  TJ Andrews                 Commission 
ABESENT: None 
GUESTS:  
         
The regular meeting of the Grand Traverse County Department of Health and Human Services 
Board was called to order at 9:00am by Board Chair Mary Marois at Garfield Township.    
 
First Public Comment - none 
 
County Liaison Report – Andrews had no new update to report.  
 
Approval of Agenda – Chair Marois asked if there were additions, changes or corrections to 
the agenda.  Motion was made by Griggs to approve the agenda as presented. Motion 
seconded by Crawford and carried unanimously.  
     
The purpose of the Consent Calendar is to expedite business by grouping items to be dealt with 
by one Board motion without discussion.  Any member of the Board or staff may ask that any 
item on the Consent Calendar be removed and placed elsewhere on the agenda for discussion.  
Such requests will be automatically respected.  

 
REVIEW AND FILE 
  

(1)       Draft Minutes of the 1/30/25 Board Meeting 
(2)       Draft Minutes of the 2/6/25 Board Meeting 
(3)       January Resident Council Minutes 

 
Motion was made by Crawford to approve the Consent Calendar as presented.  Motion 
seconded by Griggs and carried unanimously. 
 
Items Removed From Consent Calendar – None 
 
Chairman Report – Marois shared over a hundred applicants have been received for the open 
CEO position and requested for the Board to review the applicants by Wednesday, March 5th to 
start the process of interviews.     
 
Service Excellence Awards – Marois reviewed January’s Service Excellence Awards. 
 
Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs – Abbreviated Survey – Hautamaki 
reported on the abbreviated survey on January 9, 2025 shared in the packet.  Hautamaki 
handed out a copy of an accepted letter of attestation of compliance.    
 
4th Quarter Foundation Financials –Dood provided the 4th quarter Foundation Financials and 
answered questions by the board.   

Page 3 of 77

dgratton
Text Box
1



DRAFT  

 

2 
 

 
Cottage Masterplan Update – Marois shared she’ll be meeting with Hautamaki and the Grand 
Traverse Pavilions Foundation Board President, Deb Jackson in the near future to review the 
study by architect firm Eckert Wordell and will report back on a plan at the next DHHS Board 
meeting. 
 
Chief Executive Officer Report – Hautamaki reviewed January’s monthly report and answered 
board members questions.  Hautamaki reported that Holly Edmondson accepted the permanent 
position as Director of Nursing. Daily bed management meetings have been created to help with 
communication with getting rooms ready for admission.  Hautamaki shared he is taking steps to 
have a mock survey completed to help prepare staff for an annual survey in the fall.  Andrews 
recommended for the County Emergency Operations Director to meet the Pavilions 
Environmental Services Director for a site visit and emergency preparedness.  Hautamaki 
shared that the Aspen Pavilion is still on schedule to open on July 1, 2025 with an open house 
in June.  The board recognized the accomplishment of moving Quality Measures from a 2 star 
rating to a 4 star rating with the work by MDS Coordinators and John Delasantos of JMD Health 
Care Solutions. The Board congratulated all staff on their hard work of quality care, cleanliness 
and overall improvement over the last year.   
 
Andrews out 9:40 am 
 
BUSINESS 
 
(1) Financial Report – Dood presented the financial operations report for January 2025 and 

answered board members’ questions.  The board would like to see the percentage of 
occupancy for beds added to the dashboard. 

 
Motion made by Crawford to accept the financial operations report as presented.  
Seconded by Griggs and carried unanimously. Roll call Marois – yes, Crawford– yes, 
Griggs – yes. 

 
(2) 2025 Amended Budget – Crawford shared that she met with Hautamaki and Dood to 

review the amended budget and reviewed the changes to the Provider Tax and current 
occupancy with the projected average census as 180 for the year.  The budget also included 
$60,000 for a fund developer as requested in January’s meeting. 

 
Motion made by Crawford to accept the 2025 Amended Budget as presented.  
Seconded by Griggs and carried unanimously. Roll call Marois – yes, Crawford– yes, 
Griggs – yes.  

 
(3) Request to Purchase – Replacement of Willow Flooring – Hautamaki reviewed the need 

to replace the flooring at Willow Cottage.  Three bids were received, and the recommended 
bid was for Floor Covering Brokers based on it being the lowest bid. 

 
Motion made by Crawford to approve the bid from Floor Covering Brokers for 
$19,968.96 to replace the flooring at Willow Cottage as presented.  Motion was 
seconded by Griggs and carried unanimously. Roll call Marois – yes, Crawford– yes, 
Griggs – yes. 

 

Page 4 of 77



DRAFT  

 

3 
 

(4) Request to Purchase – Campus Utility Vehicle – Hautamaki reviewed the need to 
purchase a utility vehicle.  Three bids were received, and the recommended bid was for 
Ginop Sales, Inc. based on it being the lowest bid. 

 
Motion made by Griggs to approve the bid from Ginop Sales, Inc. for $27,995.00 to 
purchase a utility vehicle as presented.  Motion was seconded by Crawford and carried 
unanimously. Roll call Marois – yes, Crawford– yes, Griggs – yes. 
 

(5) Resolution 2025 – 1 – Foundation Trustee Appointment - Croad – Marois reviewed the 
proposed Foundation Board of Trustee Nicolina Croad.   
 
Motion was made by Marois to accept the Grand Traverse Pavilions Foundation Board of 
Trustee candidate Nicolina Croad as presented.  Motion was seconded by Griggs and 
carried unanimously. 

 
Grand Traverse Pavilions Announcements  

(1) Next regular board meeting March 27, 2025. 
(2) Marois noted the board needs to reach out to County Administration to get on 

their agenda for a presentation. 
 
Second Public Comment  
Linda Pepper 
 
Meeting adjourned at 10:17 am 
 
Signatures:  
 
 
 

Mary Marois – Chair 
Grand Traverse County Department of Health and Human Services Board 
 
Date:                                   Approved 
                                   Corrected and Approved 
 

Page 5 of 77



PAVILIONS RESIDENT COUNCIL MEETING  
February 20, 2025 

 
The February 2025 meeting of the Grand Traverse Pavilions Resident Council was 
called to order at 11 am in the Multi-Purpose Room by Hanna Wooters. 
 
All residents were welcomed. 
The residents waived their right to a closed meeting. 
The Lord’s Prayer and the Pledge of Allegiance were recited. 
 
Members present were introduced:Residents are marked “X” throughout the minutes. 
Birch Pavilion: 5 Residents attended. 
Cherry Pavilion: 4 Residents attended. 
Dogwood Pavilion: 5 Residents attended. 
   
Staff members were introduced: 
Hanna Wooters, CTRS, Life Enrichment 
Clay Wagatha, Marketing/Life Enrichment 
Emily Tyrell, Cherry/Elm Pavilion Social Work 
Christina Wagatha, RN, ADON – Cherry Pavilion  
Christian Andersen, General Manager - Forefront Dining Services 
Lisa Telling, Administrative Assistant - Forefront Dining Services 
Ryan Hutchins, Environmental Services Director, Environmental Services 
Cati Jasso, Environmental Services Assistant Director, Environmental Services 
 
Guest: American Sign Language (ASL) interpreter 
 
Old Business: 
There was not any old business from the previous meeting that needed to be brought 
up for discussion or to follow-up on. 
 
New Business: 

Hanna announced the Mac and Cheese bakeoff happening on 2/28 open to all staff and 

residents to participate. If residents have a recipe, they’d like to make they will make 

time to help them make it. 

Outings for March 2025: 

-Due to high interest in February’s mall outing we will have another Mall Outing – 3/5 

10-12:30 

-China Fair – 3/12 11-1:30 

Walmart – 3/27 10-12 

 

 

Page 6 of 77

dgratton
Text Box
2



Special Events for March 2025: 

-Bingo Store 2/27 

-Madi Gras/Fat Tuesday Celebration 3/4 

-Mass with Father Joe 3/7 

-Salvation Army 3/9 

-St. Patty’s Day Celebration 3/17 

-Resident Council 3/20 

 
Resident Group Interview Questions: 
Hanna discussed with the attending residents that are 12 resident rights that are 
reviewed during the group interview with the State Surveyors during our annual survey, 
and today we will be reviewing Privacy. 
 
Privacy:  

• Can you meet privately with your visitors? 
All residents said yes. 
 

• Can you make telephone calls without other people overhearing your conversation? 
-Yes 
-Roommate can hear and I can hear her, but I just tune it out 
-Is there a phone available? 
 -Chrissy, ADON, informed all residents that there is a phone on each unit that can be 
used at any time that is shared by all residents on that unit. 
 

• Does the facility make an effort to assure that privacy is respected for all residents? 
 
-Yes, all good 
-They try their best 
 
1.  Discussion regarding food temperature and receiving HS snacks. 
The floor was opened for residents to make comments, suggestions, concerns, and or 
ask questions: 
 
-One resident asked if vegetables can be cooked more al dente, they seem mushy and 
are difficult to eat sometimes. 

-Christian, GM of Dining Services replied: They have to be a little softer due to 
diets. Is there a specific vegetable? 
-Resident responded they all seem to be the same. 
-Christian will look into it with chef. 

-I am not fan of the potatoes but still seem to get them often. 
 -Christian responded that she can request no potatoes on her meal card. 
-I would like to see more eggs and less pancakes. 

Page 7 of 77



 
2.  Discussion regarding the cleanliness of the facility and laundry being returned 
promptly. 
The floor was opened for residents to make comments, suggestions, concerns, and or 
ask questions: 
 
-No issues with cleanliness. 
-I have been missing my favorite pants since 12/10 and I know that they were labeled. I 
have a feeling they were mistakenly placed in a wrong closet. 
 -Ryan asked for a description and said he will check Lost and Found. 
 -Emily, Social Worker, to send out an email with description of the pants to staff 
 
3.  Discussion regarding room temperature. 
The floor was opened for residents to make comments, suggestions, concerns, and or 
ask questions:  

 
-One day my room is roasting and the next day it is too cold, it needs to be adjusted. 
 -Another resident followed up with the building doesn’t heat up until after dinner 
 -Ryan, Environmental Services Director, to look into it 
-My roommate had the film put on her window and it was fast and nondisruptive if 
anyone was worried about that being an issue. It seems to be working well for her 
-I have an issue with icicles outside my bedroom 

-Ryan responded we are having an issue throughout the building due with ice at 
this time and to be please be patient, but if you notice any leaks to please let us 
know right away 

 
4.  Discussion regarding nursing care. 
The floor was opened for residents to make comments, suggestions, concerns, and or 
ask questions: 
 
-There were no concerns. 
 
5.  Discussion regarding call lights being answered in a timely manner. 
The floor was opened for residents to make comments, suggestions, concerns, and or 
ask questions: 
 
-The time seems to be worse at night and early morning. 
 -Christina, ADON Cherry, to follow up with resident’s ADON. 
-My wristband quit working. 
 -Emily, Social Work, We will get you a new one. 
-I have to wait to go to the bathroom too often. 
 -Christina to follow up with resident’s ADON. 
 
 
 
 

Page 8 of 77



6.  Discussion regarding receiving showers as needed/as requested. 
The floor was opened for residents to make comments, suggestions, concerns, and or 
ask questions:              
 
-I get mine on time. 
-Me too. 
 
7. Discussion regarding the nighttime noise level on your Pavilion. 
The floor was opened for residents to make comments, suggestions, concerns, and or 
ask questions: 
 
-There were no concerns. 
 
The floor was opened for additional comments: 
 
Hanna, Recreation Therapist, asked residents how they have been liking activities and if 
there are any suggestions. 
 
-One resident responded that the activities are good. 
-I liked the cardio drumming, I’d like to see it on the schedule more. 
 -Hanna replied we can do that. 
-How do I know whats going on? 

-Hanna replied that the Pavilions Post that each resident gets has that weeks 
activities and upcoming outings in it as well as the bulletin boards on each hall 
-Resident replied thank you. 

 
 
 
  

The next Pavilions Resident Council meeting will be held on March 20th at 11:00am in 
the Multi-Purpose Room. Hanna asked for a volunteer to read over and sign the 
February 2025 minutes, and X said that she would do this. The Pavilions Resident 
Council Meeting was adjourned at 11:30 am by Hanna, seconded by X.     
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
_______________________  _______________________ 
Clayton Wagatha    Hanna Wooters, CTRS            
Marketing/Life Enrichment   Recreational Therapist 
 
 
 
______________________ 
X, Cherry Resident 

Page 9 of 77



Elm Resident Council Minutes 
Meeting Held- February  21st 2025 

 
The March meeting of the Grand Traverse Pavilions Elm Resident Council was called to order at 
10:50am in the Elm Common Area. 
 
Members Present were: Residents are marked “X” throughout the minutes. 
17 Residents attended. 
 
Staff Present: 
Susan Eldred, Recreation Therapist 
Naomi Rode, Assistant Director of Nursing 
Emily Tyrrell, Social Worker 
 
Old Business:  
None 
 
New Business: 
Asked the residents if they need help do the staff help them.  
X stated “yes” and X stated, “pretty good.” X stated, “once in a while.” 
 
Asked the residents if they were being offered a snack before bed.  
X stated “of course” and X stated “yeah.” X “maybe.” 
 
Asked the residents if the staff were respectful to the residents.  
X stated, “I think they are and X stated “yes.” 
 
Asked the residents if the food is good here.  
X stated, “delicious and X stated “Perfecto.” X stated “yes, I would say it is.” 
 
Asked the residents if the rooms were getting cleaned.  
X stated, “yeah they have” and X stated, “too clean.” X and X stated “yeah.” 
 
Asked the residents if their clothes are getting cleaned. 
X stated “yeah” and X stated, “beautiful job.” X stated “yes.” 
 
Asked the residents if the Temperature in the rooms are good.  
X stated, “It’s warm.” and X stated, “oh yes.” X stated “yeah” and X stated, “not today.”  
 
Asked the residents if they have enough to do. 
X stated “good.” and X stated, “real good.” X stated, “busy enough.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10 of 77



Questions, Suggestions, Concerns and Comments: 
The floor was open for questions, suggestions, concerns and comments.  
 
Suggestions for upcoming activities: 
Shamrock Shakes 
St Patrick’s Day Green Treats 
Indoor Plants 
Watch Basketball 
Play UNO 
 
Meeting was closed at 11:08am 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
 
Susan Eldred, CTRS  Emily Tyrrell, LLBSW  Naomi Rode, BSN, RN  
 

Page 11 of 77



GRAND TRAVERSE PAVILIONS 

Service Excellence Award Program 

February 2025 

  

  
Employee: Emily Worm 

Awarded for: 
Emily is a mover and shaker. Always answers all her lights, helps with showers, and 
steps up to do anything she’s asked to help with. Thank you, Emily – great job! 

Position: CNA 

Nominated by: Jeanie Hickman 

 
 
 

 

  
Employee: Helen Dean 

Awarded for: 
Thank you for your excellence care and compassion for my mom in her passing. You 
were very special to her and my dad.  

Position: CNA 

Nominated by: Jeff Buday – Family Compliment 

 
 
 

  
Employee: Jeannie Hickman 

Awarded for: 

Being extremely helpful with residents and assisting people with anything they may 

need help with. Jeanie helped me as a newer CNA with a new task and it was to the 

great benefit of the resident. 

Position: CNA 

Nominated by: Shelby Bourbina 

 
 
 

  
Employee: Darcey Gratton 

Awarded for: 
Helping troubleshoot an issue on Rehab. We appreciate your effort and help – thank 

you! 

Position: Administrative Services Director 

Nominated by: Sam Stinson 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12 of 77

dgratton
Text Box
3



Employee: Craig Shantz 

Awarded for: 

It was a busy night on Cherry and Craig came and helped put residents to bed and 

helped with whatever was needed. He's always willing to help anyone in need and does 

his job very well. He's really one of the best! 

Position:  CNA  

Nominated by: Kayla Mancuso 

 
Employee: Amanda Lee 

Awarded for: 
Going above & beyond to quickly help get pillows for our two new residents room. 

Thank you for all that you do for Dogwood and our residents, we are so grateful! 

Position:  Housekeeper 

Nominated by: Mackenzie Beeman 

 
Employee: Dan Newcomb 

Awarded for: 
Giving a patient excellent education on medication administration prior to discharge so 

that they can go home safely. Your help is much appreciated! 

Position:  RN 

Nominated by: Susan Olsen 

 
Employee: Jessica Newberry 

Awarded for: 

Jessica is a Speech-Language Pathologist who is certified in FEES (Fiberoptic 

Endoscopic Evaluation of Swallowing) to assess dysphagia (swallowing difficulty). This 

is a highly specialized procedure that can be done right here at the Pavilions by Jessica 

where an endoscope is passed through the resident’s nose and a small fiberoptic 

camera can visualize how the resident is swallowing. This has assisted the other 

speech therapists immensely in being able to more accurately determine details that are 

unknown at bedside; for example if a resident just has a regular cough, or if they are 

coughing because food or drinks are going into the airway, which can lead to 

pneumonia. It has also assisted in determining appropriate diet levels and swallowing 

exercises in order to better treat our residents with dysphagia. Jessica has been able to 

assess and treat several patients that have extremely complex dysphagia needs who 

the hospital refers to our facility for rehabilitation. There are very few skilled nursing 

facilities that have this option of the FEES procedure in-house, and we are very grateful 

for it! 

Position:  Speech Language Pathologist 

Nominated by: Jacqueline Archer 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13 of 77



 
 

TO:  Grand Traverse County Department of Health and Human Services Board 
FROM: Dave Hautamaki, Interim Administrator/CEO       
RE:  February Report 
 
Census (Average Daily Census) 
 Mar-MTD Feb-25 Jan-25 Dec-24 Nov-24 Oct-24 Sept-24 

Medical Care 
Facility (MCF) 

177 180 178 178 163 173 168 

Cottages 56 56 58 58 58 61 63 

 
Occupancy Feb-25 Jan-25 Dec-24 Nov-24 Oct-24 Sept-24 

MTD Goal 85% Available beds 90% 89% 85% 85% 85% 85% 

YTD Goal 85% Licensed beds 74% 74%     

 
MCF Feb-25 Jan-25 Dec-24 Nov-24 Oct-24 Sept-24 

Admissions & Re-admits 59 55 64 45 55 52 

Discharges 57 55 52 46 55 48 

MMC Referrals 231 239 221 169 210 169 

MMC Denied 33 41 48 32 35 26 

Transfers to LTC 10 2 2 1 5 3 

 
Cottages Feb-25 Jan-25 Dec-24 Nov-24 Oct-24 Sept-24 

Admissions 1 3 2 0 1 3 

Respite 10 6 4 4 7 6 

Discharges  2 1 2 2 2 0 

 
Finance 

 Feb-25 Jan-25 Dec-24 Nov-24 Oct-24 Sept-24 

Combined Net Income $(451) $51,676 $(778,017) $16,634 $47,415 $106,264 

MCF   
Net Income 

$54,187 $117,568 $(721,830) $55,083 $54,974 $124,307 

Cottage  
Net Income 

$(54,637) $(65,892) $(56,187) $(38,448) $(7,560) $(18,043) 

Cash Balance $7,111,636 $6,690,775 $7,677,738 **$8,789,614 $3,853,444 $3,615,910 

A/R Days Sales 
Outstanding 

60 60 57 56 58 60 

**Certified Public Expenditure of $903,648 and year-end cost settlements for the year 2022 of $676,286 & 2023 of $3,282,428. 

  

MCF Operating Expenses PPD History   

 Feb-25 Jan-25 Dec-24 Nov-24 Oct-24 Sept-24 

MCF Operating Expenses 
Actual PPD 

$493 $471 $507 $492 $468 $469 

MCF Operating Expenses 
Budgeted PPD 

$492 $501 $453 $457 $453 $457 

Variance 
(unfavorable)/favorable 

$(1) $30 $(54) $(35) $(15) $(12) 

 
       

Page 14 of 77

dgratton
Text Box
4



2 
 

Facility Reported Incidents 
 Feb-25 Jan-25 Dec-24 Nov-24 Oct-24 Sept-24 

Medical Care Facility 4 12 7 3 7 4 

 
Wellness Center 

Numbers of Patients seen: Feb-25 Jan-25 Dec-24 Nov-24 Oct-24 Sept-24 

Medicare A 38   32 32 21 27 38 

Medicare Advantage Skilled 39 42 40 33 36 30 

Private Insurance: Inpatient 4 4 4 1 3 2 

Private Pay: Inpatient 0 0 0 0 2 0 

Auto: Inpatient 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Med A/Rehab Inpatient 
Totals 

77 74 76 55 68 71 

       

Medicaid 3 2 3 5 5 2 

Medicare B: Inpatient 35 30 34 37 42 40 

Medicare B Advantage: 
Inpatient 

19 19 16 21 19 14 

Med B Inpatient Totals 54 51 53 63 66 56 

       

Medicare B: Outpatient 21 30 22 29 26 20 

Medicare B Advantage: 
Outpatient 

35 39 42 47 48 51 

Private Insurance: 
Outpatient 

18 17 16 20 21 18 

Work Compensation: 
Outpatient 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Private Pay: Outpatient 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Auto: Outpatient 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Outpatient Totals 74 86 80 96 95 89 

       

Numbers of Wellness 
Center Visits: 

      

Aquatic inpatients therapy 
visits 

21 11 14 18 16 20 

Aquatic aftercare visits per 
month 

284 294 200 287 312 342 

Aquatic outpatient PT visits 141 146 82 175 184 148 

Aquatic group class 
participants 

107 88 52 95 89 54 

Land therapy visits (PT, OT, 
SLP) 

200 261 212 203 266 208 

Total Outpatient therapy 
visit 

341 388 315 378 450 356 

       

Outpatient aquatic therapy 
revenue 

36,150.26 42,946.16 34,317.98 47,778.42 49,639.40 42,934.12 

Aftercare monthly revenue 2,840 2,940 2,000 2,870 3,120 3420 

Aquatic group class 
revenue 

2,140 1,760 1,040 1900 1,780 1080 

Cottages visits 42 95 91 26 41 34 

Total Wellness center 
revenue 

41,130.26 47,646.16 37,357.98 46,548.42 54,539.40 47,434.12 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 15 of 77



3 
 

Staffing 
 Feb-25 Jan-25 Dec-24 Nov-24 Oct-24 Sept-24 

Hires 18 18 8 9 15 35 

Resignations  5 6 6 3 3 5 

Referrals 5 6 9 5 3 9 

Total # Employees 337 330 334 338 332 325 

Mar 2025 MDT # 351 employees 
Talent Sourcing and Recruiting is underway for census to grow to 185 (CNAs, UWs, RNs, Social Worker) 

 
Activities 
Recreational Therapists in the life enrichment department continue to complete video chats 
throughout the month for 5 residents over FaceTime or Google Duo. 
 
Activities, Special Events and Outings that occurred in February included small group activities such 
as Bird Care; Card Group including Euchre and Uno, Word Games (Name that Tune and 
Scategories), hand Creative Kitchen group baking items for mocktail hour such as valentine cookies, 
mac and cheese, and brownies. 
 
Residents engaged in arts and crafts with Valentine cards with childcare, creative coloring, aroma 
bracelets. In addition to helping fold the weekly Pavilions Post, residents continue to attend book club 
meetings starting their fifth book, The Women by Kristin Hannah. Residents continue to check out 
books from the book mobile that visits monthly with rotating reading material to check out. Residents 
participated in morning stretch/exercise groups throughout the week. Song circle group continues to 
take place throughout the building including Maple rehab pavilion as a morning and afternoon activity 
in hallways and common areas. 
 
Large group activities that were held included: Drum Circles, Cardio Drumming, Bingo, Bingo Store, 
Balloon Ball, Bowling, Popcorn Fridays & Movies and Tuesday Mocktails. Special events that took 
place during February were a Superbowl Party, Valentines Party, Guest Performer Rick Hilleary and 
a Mac and Cheese Cookoff. Livestreaming of church services from Central United Methodist Church, 
Gaither’s Gospel and St. Francis of Assisi continues Sunday’s. Catholic church services were 
attended with Catholic Mass with Father Joe once this month, and Rosary & Holy Communion 
weekly.  Outings that residents signed up for included Leelanau Sands Casino and Grand Traverse 
Mall for shopping and lunch. Elm residents have participated in various sensory group activities 
including-sensory cart, coloring, crafts. They engage in song circle twice a week with life enrichment 
staff. They participate in small group morning exercise. Cognitive groups include trivia, Jeopardy, 
history, categories, large dice games, Yahtzee, puzzles, book clubs and jokes. Residents participated 
in a creative kitchen making chocolate Valentines Cookies and Mac and Cheese. Residents engage 
in weekly intergenerational visits from the children of the Pavilions Day care center.. 
 
On February 19th, Let’s Talk Food Meeting was held and on February 20th the Pavilions Resident 
Council meeting for residents was held for all pavilions to come together to meet. Elm Resident 
Council was held separately on February 21st.  
   
Environmental Services 
Remodeling begins at the beginning of April for the pantry, nurses station and sunroom.  
 
The new wall paint in Beech Gym is almost finished. Main gym area is complete. Locker rooms and 
bathroom are scheduled to be done soon. 
 
New Kubota RTV arrived and will be a very useful piece of equipment outside. 
 

Page 16 of 77



4 
 

Spring outdoor projects have started. First on the list will be front sign coming into main circle will be 
getting refreshed with paint, lighting and landscape. 
 
 

Page 17 of 77



1 

 

GRAND TRAVERSE PAVILIONS 

MEMORANDUM 

 
Financial Operations Report 

February 2025 

 

Grand Traverse Pavilions Combined 

 

REVENUE:      

The overall revenue for the Pavilions in February was $2,845,643 resulting in a 
favorable budget variance of $25,653.   
         

EXPENSES:        
The total overall operating expenses for the Pavilions in February were 
$2,846,094 resulting in a favorable variance to budget of $334.  

     
NET INCOME/LOSS: 

There was net loss of $451 from the combined programs of the Pavilions in 
February resulting in a favorable budget variance of $25,987.  

 
OPERATING CASH:     

Total cash at month-end was $7,111,636. There was a net increase (more was 
brought in than was spent) in overall cash of $421,544 for the month.  
 
Two Quality Assurance Supplement (“QAS”) reconciliation payments totaling 
$259,722 were received in February. There were no other significant irregular 
payments received in February.  
 
The schedule of irregular payment (outflows) from GTP includes an adjustment 
to the expected timing of a few items from February to March and April.  In 
addition to the non-union Pension Bond interest payment of $53,675, the civil 
monetary penalty for the last annual survey of $29,347.50 was paid in February. 
 
PACE North owes the Pavilions $831,613.03 under the Sublease Deferral 
Agreement as of December 31, 2024.  Based on our interpretation of information 
provided recently, it appears that the repayments under that agreement should 
have begun in April, 2023.  To date, no payments have been made.  Notice of 
Default was sent to PACE North on or about March 17, 2025. 
  

VOUCHERS:        
Purchase orders, invoices, checks written, and supporting documentation were 
reviewed for voucher numbers 5625-5631 for the month of February and were in 
order without exception.  
 

 

Page 18 of 77

dgratton
Text Box
5



2 

 

Grand Traverse Medical Care 

REVENUE:    
The census for February averaged 180 residents which was equal to the 
budgeted census and two more than the prior month.  Private pay census was 
seven above budget, Medicare was three below budget, Medicaid was four 
below budget and Hospice was equal to the budgeted census.  The occupancy 
for February was 74.9% of licensed beds and 90.3% of available beds.  Year to 
date occupancy is 74.4% of licensed bed days and 89.8% of available bed days. 
The last day for flexibility in managing census to 85% (to avoid a significant 
reduction in future Medicaid payments) is September 30, 2025.  Efforts to 
increase the census to 204 (85% of our 240 licensed beds) are underway.  
Success in that regard is very important for the long- term value of the Pavilions 
nursing home beds to the community. 
 
The average rate per patient day (“PPD”) for inpatient resident revenue was 
$12.87 over budget (favorable).  This is largely due to the improvements in 
capturing details in the MDS (clinical assessment process). 
 
Other revenue was over budget due mostly to higher than budgeted Direct Care 
Worker Reimbursements and an increase in childcare revenue.  
 
Work has begun on assembling the information required for Plante Moran to 
prepare the Medicare and Medicaid cost reports for 2024.  When complete, 
Plante Moran will use the filed Medicaid cost report to estimate the per day 
payment GTP will receive from Medicaid and hospice providers from October 1, 
2025 through September 30, 2026.  
 
Because occupancy rose between 2023 and 2024, relatively fixed costs (like the 
pension plan contributions) per resident day declined and will contribute to a 
lower reimbursement beginning this fall.  Also contributing to lower costs per day 
is the end of the 3-year amortization of the 2021 pension plan contributions from 
the bond proceeds.  Offsetting those items are retention pay and the first year of 
amortization of the December 2024 pension plan contribution. 
 
Following through on the Plante Moran strategic planning recommendation to 
reorganize the cottage operations into a separate legal entity is still a $50,000 
per month benefit to future nursing home Medicaid reimbursements. 
 

 
EXPENSES:   
  Operating Expenses were $.84 per patient day more than budgeted for the 

month resulting in an unfavorable flexed variance of $4,225 based on the 5,031 
days of care.   

 
 
 

Page 19 of 77



3 

 

NET INCOME/LOSS: 
Grand Traverse Medical Care produced net income of $54,187 for the month, 
which was $57,984 more than budgeted.  

 
RECEIVABLES: 

Days Revenue Outstanding (“DRO”) is 60 days as of 2/28/2025.  This is the 
same as of 1/31/2025.  Our goal is to reduce that number to 45 days.   
 
All resident’s who have applied for Medicaid have been approved. 
 
There are four private pay residents who have not paid their current bill but have 
indicated they are in the process of completing a Medicaid application that they 
believe will cover their outstanding balance. 

 
 The audit of the 2022 cost report began in January and we received preliminary 

adjustments in conjunction with the Audit Exit Meeting held on February 27.  Jon 
Lanczek with Plante Moran attended that meeting to lead a discussion regarding 
a couple of adjustments that we disagree with.  Overall, the audit results were in 
line with expected results.  Plante Moran will prepare a request for an Internal 
Conference before the filing deadline of April 4 to continue to dispute those 
material proposed adjustments with which we disagree.  Audit adjustments result 
in payment reconciliations in the future. 

 
The Cottages 

 
REVENUE:  

Total revenue of $273,270 generated a $32,110 unfavorable variance to the 
budget.    
 
The average leased occupancy for the Cottages-Assisted Living was 52 
apartments during the month (9 below budget, 2 less than the prior month), 
representing 66.7% occupancy.  In addition, there were 90 days (average of 3.2 
per night) of overnight respite provided during the month (3 less than the prior 
month and sixty-two above budget).   Hawthorn Lofts-Independent Living 
average census (excluding the Administrator) was 1 resident per day for 33% 
occupancy which was the same as the prior month and one below budget. Total 
average census of 56 residents (two less than the prior month). 
 
Occupancy above included an average of 12 Pace North residents in the 
Cottages, (the same as the prior month) and 28 days of Respite Care were 
provided for a Pace North participant (the same as the prior month). 

 
EXPENSES:  

Expenses for February (before depreciation) were $304,586 which was below the 
budgeted amount by $113 for a favorable variance. 
 

Page 20 of 77



4 

 

 
NET INCOME/LOSS: 

The program had a net loss for the month of $54,637 resulting in an unfavorable 
variance of $31,996.   
 
 

Unassigned Fund Balance 
 

Approved 2025 Operating Budget       $ 36.5M   
Unassigned Fund Balance Target Percentage                20% 
Unassigned Fund Balance Target Amount                 $7.3M 
Current Unassigned Fund Balance*          $7.1M 
Current Fund Balance as a percentage of Operating Budget         19%  
Amount Available Above/ (Below) Target        ($.2)M 
 
*Fund balance is different from a cash balance as it includes other assets and is net of 
current liabilities.  Those items do not generally change significantly so we are reporting 
here on the cash balance amount. 

Page 21 of 77



Page 22 of 77



Page 23 of 77



Page 24 of 77



Page 25 of 77



Page 26 of 77



Page 27 of 77



Page 28 of 77



Page 29 of 77



Page 30 of 77



Page 31 of 77



Page 32 of 77



Page 33 of 77



Page 34 of 77



Grand Traverse Pavilions

Irregular payments

2025

Grand Traverse County union pension bond principal January 220,000.00        Amortization changes each year Pmts done in 2039, prin. Gradually inc.

Grand Traverse County union pension bond interest January 93,581.25          Amortization changes each year Expensed monthly

Grand Traverse County Unemployment claims for 2024 January 11,547.00          We share an unemployment account Billed by the County annually based on paid claims

AFP Specialty Fire Panel Testing January 18,495.54          Older invoices received in late December Expensed in December; billing information updated

Midwest Pools Inc. Pool bottom  refinishing January 13,625.00          Capital purchase

Northern Michigan Glass Front Doors January 15,465.00          Capital purchase

Payroll Perfect Attendance February 9,000.00            Quarterly with an annual bonus for those with perfect attendance

Acrisure Cyber liability annual premium January 12,287.50          Expensed monthly

Warner Norcross Attorney Fees January 52,740.22          December fees paid in January Expensed in December

Brown & Brown Mgmt Liability annual premium January 31,860.00          Expensed monthly

Payroll 3 payrolls in the month (26 per year) January 750,000.00        Biweekly pay, two 3 pay period months each year

West Bend Insurance Insured portion of Workers Compensation Exp January 34,401.60          Down payment Followed by 8 payments of $11,019.80; expensed monthly

Grand Traverse County non-union pension bond interest payment February 53,675.00          Amortization changes each year Expensed monthly, Paid twice each year

Otis Elevator Two service contracts February 7,031.88            Late billings for part of 2024 Estimate expensed monthly

CMS--Medicare Penalties related to Survey February 29,347.50          

State of Michigan Quality Assurance Supplement Reconciliation February (259,721.82)       Annual reconciliation--refund in 2025

Projected:

Nationwide Insurance Liability, property and auto insurance March 97,900.33          Installment payment 1 of 3 Calendar year policy; expensed monthly

Warner Norcross Attorney Fees for January March 28,282.50          

Relias elearning program March 39,000.00          Annual expense Employee e learning module

NetSmart Technologies Annual Pmt for legacy healthcare record access March 24,000.00          Annual payment annual pmt for legacy healthcare record access

State of Michigan Outstation worker payments per contract March 18,725.00          1/2 Paid back to GTP by Pace Contract renews 10/1--want decision by 6/2 each year

State of Michigan Quality Assurance Assessment March 264,677.40        4 months retroactive increase 

State of Michigan Quality Measures Incentive Assessment March 22,908.80          4 months retroactive increase 

Grand Traverse County Hawthorn cottage bond principal payment April 230,000.00        Level principle payments Pmts done in 2031-level principle pmts

Grand Traverse County Hawthorn cottage bond interest payment April 21,907.50          Amortization changes each year Expensed monthly

Grand Traverse County Rent--Pace Bond interest April 41,171.25          Interest decreases each year Paid by Pace to GTP

Warner Norcross Attorney Fees for Feb April 12,000.00          

Payroll Perfect Attendance April 5,000.00            Quarterly payment-$100 grossed up for FICA for those with perfect attendance

Backflow Man Backflow valve testing/repairs May 5,000.00            Required annual testing

MCMCFC Annual Dues May 12,100.00          This is the 2024-25 amount

Plante Moran Cost Report Preparation June 12,000.00          Medicare & Medicaid Cost Reports-annual Benchmarking survey and MA rate projec.

Nationwide Insurance Liability, property and auto insurance June 97,900.33          Installment payment 2 of 3 Calendar year policy; expensed monthly

State of Michigan Outstation worker payments per contract June 37,450.00          1/2 due to be paid back to GTP from Pace Contract renews 10/1--want decision by 6/3

Grand Traverse County union pension bond interest payment July 89,896.25          Amortization changes each year Expensed monthly

Otis Elevator Elevator contracts July 11,000.00          Annual expense for elevator maintenance

Brightly Software, Inc. Maintenance management software July 11,000.00          Annual renewal for software license

State of Michigan 2019 Audit payment--after Circuit Court decision July??? 334,731.63        Dif between audited cost and allowed costs for claims between 10/1/20 and 9/30/21 (1 year)

State of Michigan 2022 Audit payment-audit underway Jan 2025 July?? ?? Dif between audited cost and allowed costs for claims between 10/1/21 to 9/30/23 (2 years)

Payroll Perfect Attendance August 5,000.00            Quarterly payment-$100 grossed up for FICA for those with perfect attendance

Grand Traverse County non-union pension bond principal August 275,000.00        Amortization changes each year Pmts done in 2039, prin. Gradually increase

Grand Traverse County non-union pension bond interest August 53,675.00          Amortization changes each year Expensed monthly

Payroll 3 payrolls in the month (26 per year) August 750,000.00        

Leading Age Annual Dues September 30,000.00          Annual Dues Updated for actual 24-25 invoice (higher by $325.00)

Nationwide Insurance Liability, property and auto insurance September 97,900.33          Installment payment 3 of 3 Calendar year policy; expensed monthly

MERS Supplemental Pension Payment October 31,000.00          Amount varies annually Expense accrued monthly

Grand Traverse County Hawthorn cottage bond interest payment October 19,176.25          Amortization changes each year Expensed monthly

Grand Traverse County Rent--Pace Bond principal paid to County October 160,000.00        Pmts done in 2037, prin inc by $5k most years To be paid by Pace to GTP, subject to sublease payment deferral agreement

Grand Traverse County Rent-- Pace Bond interest paid to County October 41,171.25          Interest decreases each year To be paid by Pace to GTP, subject to sublease payment deferral agreement

Payroll Perfect Attendance October 6,000.00            Quarterly payment-$100 grossed up for FICA for those with perfect attendance

Grand Traverse County Rent--Pace Facility October 31,250.00          Level lease payment To be paid by Pace to GTP

Longevity Pay Annual pay based on seniority and hours November 85,000.00          Annual payment; expensed monthly Per union agreement and handbook

State of Michigan Outstation worker payments per contract December 19,000.00          1/2 due to be paid back to GTP from Pace Estimate--contract runs 10/1 to 9/30 each year

MERS Defined Benefit Pension Contribution December -                      Elective payment approved by board (if any) $1.2M in 2024

Retention Pay Part of union contract and past practice for others December 325,000.00        Includes employer taxes, expensed monthly

Page 35 of 77



Page 36 of 77

dgratton
Text Box
6



Page 37 of 77



• • 

• 

____________ 

This document has been created by and for the QA committee for the purpose of monitoring and evaluating the quality of care in the 
facility. It is protected from discovery by MCL 333.20175 & 333.21515; 42 USC 1395i-3(b)(1)(b)(ii) and 42 USC 1396r(b)(1)(b) and 
42 CFR 483.75(h). 

March 13, 2025 

David Hautamaki 
Interim Administrator/CEO 
Grand Traverse Pavilions 
1000 Pavilions Circle 
Traverse City, MI 49684 

RE: Mock Survey Proposal 

Dear Mr. Hautamaki: 

Thank you for your request  on behalf of the Quality Assurance Committee for our firm to 
conduct mock surveys for Grand Traverse Pavilions. Our goal is to provide your staff with the 
experience of the survey process and your management team with a quality improvement tool. 
To accomplish this, we complete the following activities following the State Operations Manual: 

• Entrance Conference
• Initial Pool Interviews, Observation and Record Review
• Dining Area – Observation of Meals
• 9 Mandatory Survey Tasks
• Abuse Prohibition Program Review
• Incident Reporting Process
• FRI Review
• Triggered Critical Element Pathways
• MDS/Care Plan Reconciliation
• Progress/narrative notes and documentation, skilled charting
• LSC and Emergency Preparedness upon request

We duplicate the survey process as closely as possible. We do not, however, complete the in-
depth analysis the state surveyors do. We stop when we have a “finding.” We do not normally 
provide a review of care systems. We leave it as your team’s responsibility to investigate the 
findings, determine if there is a deficient practice, and examine your care systems for 
improvement. 

Within fourteen (14) days of our exit, we provide you with a report that lists the concerns, the 
findings, and detailed recommendations for corrections. We provide resource information. This 
is an especially useful tool if you wish to correct a deficient practice and ask the surveyors to 
consider it as Past Non-Compliance. We can discuss it separately if you require this report to be 
in writing or delivered orally. 

Page 38 of 77



Page 2 
 

This document has been created by and for the QA committee for the purpose of monitoring and evaluating the quality of care in the 
facility. It is protected from discovery by MCL 333.20175 & 333.21515; 42 USC 1395i-3(b)(1)(b)(ii) and 42 USC 1396r(b)(1)(b) and 
42 CFR 483.75(h). 

Our surveyors work 10-hour days just as the surveyors do. We bill this as 12.5 hours per on-site 
day for each surveyor to include the preparation time and reporting time. In addition, there are 
10 hours of preparation and 10 hours of report writing for the team leader.  
 
Cost Estimate – 2 days survey with exit on Day 3 

RN Surveyor 1 on-site 12.5 hours for 2.5 days @ $152.00/hr.    $4,750 
RN Surveyor 2 on-site 12.5 hours for 2.5 days @ $152.00/hr.   $4,750 
LSC & EP Surveyor 3 on-site 12.5 hours for 1 days @ $152.00/hr.      $1,900 
Behavior Surveyor 4 on-site    6.0 hours for 2.5 days @$152.00/hr   $2,280 
TL Report Compilation 10 hours @ $152.00/hr.     $1,520  

Total           $15,200 
 
This rate includes a 20% discount for becoming a retainer client for follow-up. In addition, we 
charge $51/hr. travel time (MCMCFC discount), mileage at $.70/mi (IRS rate) and actual 
overnight expenses.  
 
We are pleased that you want to continue services following the mock survey to assist with your 
process improvement efforts. Let me introduce you to our consultants. Sandy Place, MA, LNHA 
addresses behavioral services, Person Directed Care, Emergency Planning, compliance and 
ethics, building resilience with staff and elders, and a myriad of other areas. Doug Campbell 
BSN, RN is an expert in regulation, mentoring nursing leaders, daily operations, and MDS 
Issues and Care Planning. Jill Harding RN is a certified legal nurse consultant and focuses on 
survey readiness and plans of correction. Theresa DeLau BSN, RN is a regulatory expert and 
mentor to nurse leaders. Vickie Burlew provides coordination and oversight.  
 
Based on your needs following the survey, we recommend that you purchase a block of up to 
42 hours that you may use as you need in the last half of 2025. As a retainer client, you are 
invited to participate in monthly ZOOM meetings, receive frequent updates from Vickie Burlew, 
and have priority for emergencies.  We automatically allocate 2 hours (5%) for the information 
Vickie Burlew coordinates and provides your team. That leaves you with up to 40 hours for 
clinical consulting. This includes: 
 

1. On-site consultation as scheduled by the facility.  
2. Virtual meetings  
3. Telephonic communication 
4. Remote review of electronic records, reports, investigations, regulations, policies, 

etc. 
5. Remote development of plans of correction and IDR / IIDR. 
6. Research related to work requested by the facility. 
7. Email communication and texting  
8. Survey preparation – this may involve any and all of our consultants. If you desire 

more than one, please coordinate with Vickie.  
9. Training on-site or virtually  

 
You elect how to use your hours. For example, you may choose to have weekly virtual meetings 
in combination with remote reviews and have us on-site only when needed. You may continue 
to have us on-site on a routine basis. You may use as many or as few hours in a month as you 
choose. 
 

Page 39 of 77



Page 3 
 

This document has been created by and for the QA committee for the purpose of monitoring and evaluating the quality of care in the 
facility. It is protected from discovery by MCL 333.20175 & 333.21515; 42 USC 1395i-3(b)(1)(b)(ii) and 42 USC 1396r(b)(1)(b) and 
42 CFR 483.75(h). 

With the 20% discount, this is $6384 for remainder calendar year 2025. Your monthly payment 
is $1064.00. In addition to this, you pay separately for travel time at $51.00 per hour (with the 
MCMCFC 15% discount), mileage at the IRS rate, and actual overnight expenses.  
 
We bill for this monthly. Our consultants track their actual time with you in 15-minute blocks 
when exceeding 15-minutes in a single day. We detail these hours on the bill, charge them 
against your bank, and provide the balance remaining. This provides you with a clear audit trail. 
When you exhaust your block of time, and upon your approval of additional hours, we reduce 
our consulting fees by 15% for the remainder of the year.  
 
Our cancelation policy requires you to provide the consultant with seventy-two (72) hour notice 
unless there is an emergency. While the consultant will make every effort to reschedule, we are 
under no obligation to do so without sufficient notice. 
 
Of course, this retainer agreement can be terminated at any time, either by you or by us, by 
written notification thirty (30) days prior to the desired termination date. You will receive 
electronic invoices from Lebenbom & Rothman, P.C. with the Description of Services as 
“Lebenbom & Rothman Consulting Services.”  
 
If you have any questions or comments, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 
Please return one copy with your signature of acceptance. We will send you a preparatory letter 
one week in advance of the survey and will plan to execute the Services Agreement and any 
applicable Business Associate Agreements, as necessary. 
 
 
Very sincerely yours, 
Lebenbom & Rothman Consulting 
 
 
      
Andrew Rothman, President 
 
 
 
________________________________________  ________________ 
Acceptance by David Hautamaki, Administrator     Date 

Page 40 of 77



Page 4 
 

This document has been created by and for the QA committee for the purpose of monitoring and evaluating the quality of care in the 
facility. It is protected from discovery by MCL 333.20175 & 333.21515; 42 USC 1395i-3(b)(1)(b)(ii) and 42 USC 1396r(b)(1)(b) and 
42 CFR 483.75(h). 

LEBENBOM & ROTHMAN CONSULTING 
ATTACHMENT A 

 
2025 Consultant Fee Scale 

 
CLINICAL CONSULTING 

Nursing, Social Work, Activities, Survey Preparation 

Hours On-Site (minimum of 4) Billed in 
15-minute increments 

$190 per hour 

Hours Offsite 
Billed in 15-minute increments 

$190 per hour 

Emergency, Off Hours, Weekend 
Billed in 15-minute increments 

$235 per hour 

Travel time billed in 15-minute 
increments 

$60 per hour 

 
Mock Survey 

Mock Survey hours are charged at 12.5 hours per on-site day for each surveyor to include 
the preparation time and reporting writing time. of the mock surveyors. There is an additional 
10 hours charged for the team leader for pre-survey preparation and compilation and 
development of the final report. 

 
STRATEGIC PLANNING, ORGANIZATIONAL DESIGN, and FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
Strategic planning is a process that helps organizations define their direction, set goals, and 
identify areas for improvement. 
Organizational design (org design) is the process of creating an organization's structure and 
workflows to achieve its goals. 
Finance management is the strategic planning and managing of an individual or 
organization's finances to better align their financial status to their goals and objectives. 
 

On-site (Full day up to 8 hours) $2500/day 

Off-site Preparation and Reporting 
Billed in 30-minute increments 

$300 per hour 

Travel time billed in 15-minute 
increments 

$60 per hour 

 
Travel Expenses: For all services we charge for actual overnight expenses and mileage in 
whole mile increments at the IRS standard rate. 
 
Definitions 
Offsite is defined as: Virtual, Remote, Webcalls, Telephonic, Texting, Research, Email, 
Report and Recommendation Writing and other time spent on client matters. 
 
Emergency is defined as when the consultant provides services in less than 24 hours on or 
off site.  
 
Off hours and weekends are defined as hours outside of normal business hours that were 
not scheduled at least seven (7) days in advance. It does not include mock survey or 
education scheduled in advance.  

 

Page 41 of 77



Standard 
 

David Hautamaki, Interim CEO 
GRAND TRAVERSE PAVILIONS 

1000 PAVILIONS CIRCLE 
TRAVERSE CITY, MI 

49684 
dhautamaki@gtpavilions.org 

586-854-2939 

 
March 12, 2025 

Page 42 of 77



 

 
Mock Survey 

 
I. Scope of Project:  

Pathway Health will provide a qualified consultants to complete a Mock Survey. The Mock Survey uses CMS 
survey tools and closely follows the federally mandated survey process. During the mock survey the 
consultant will: 
• Select a resident sample using the CMS selection criteria, 
• Conduct resident, staff and family interviews using CMS survey tools 
• Complete mandatory survey tasks 
• Review policies and procedure associated with findings 
• Complete observations of the facility, staff/resident interactions and resident accommodations 
A verbal exit report will be provided along with notes about initial resident- specific findings. A written 
report will follow containing the consultant’s detailed findings and recommendations for improvements. 
 
 

II. Pathway Employment 
The Pathway Consultant remains an employee of Pathway and Pathway is responsible for all salary, 
benefits, and insurance for its employees.  
 

III. Recruitment of Pathway Employee 
If any Pathway employee is offered employment and accepts employment in any position, facility, or related 
organizations, the client agrees to pay a one-time fee to Pathway equal to 100% of the annual salary offer. 
 

IV. Direct Care 
Pathway Consultants do not and cannot provide direct care to patients or residents in any role or service(s) 
that is provided during the scope of this project.  
 

V. Pathway Health Employee Testing Records 
The Client must provide Pathway Health Services a copy or record of any testing results that were required 
by and/or done at the Clients facility. These test results include but are not limited to COVID test results, 
TB/Mantoux test results and etc. A copy of the results should be given to the Pathway Health consultant and 
a copy of the results should be submitted to the following secure email address: 
hrreport@pathwayhealth.com for documentation and recording keeping purposes. 
 

Page 43 of 77

mailto:hrreport@pathwayhealth.com


 

VI. Confidentiality 
During the term of this Agreement and for all times following termination of this Agreement, each party 
shall treat the terms of this agreement and related work as strictly confidential and shall not disclose the 
terms of this agreement to any third party except that any party may disclose this Agreement to the extent 
necessary for implementation of this Agreement or to its legal counsel and/or financial consultants in the 
due course of their representation of such party; provided that each party shall take all necessary action to 
ensure that such persons treat this agreement and its terms as confidential information and not disclose the 
terms of this Agreement to any other third party.  This agreement may otherwise be disclosed only as 
required by law; provided that, prior to such disclosure, the party making such disclosure shall use its best 
efforts to disclose this agreement in such circumstances only to government authorities as confidential 
information protected from public disclosure. 
 

VII. Data Privacy/HIPAA Business Associate Agreement 
Pathway agrees to abide by all applicable state and federal laws and regulations covering the handling and 
disclosure of private and confidential information concerning individuals and/or data including but not 
limited to information made non-public by such laws or regulations. Pathway will appropriately safeguard 
protected health information “PHI” disclosed, created or received via the terms of this contract.  
 

VIII. Indemnification 
The Client, shall indemnify and hold Pathway Health Services Inc. harmless from any claim or cause of action 
arising out of, or in connection with, the indemnifying party’s acts or omissions under this agreement, 
including the acts of its agents and employees, and from any loss or expense or attorneys’ fees and court 
costs arising out of any claim or cause of action. 
 

IX. Intellectual Property 
Client acknowledges that Pathway owns all intellectual property rights, including, without limitation, 
copyrights, patents, trademarks, and trade secrets (“IP Rights”), in Pathway materials used in connection 
with providing services to Client. All IP Rights in works of authorship and inventions created by or under the 
direction of Pathway Consultant in connection with providing services to Client (“Work Product”) shall be 
owned by Pathway, as the employer of the Pathway Consultant. To the extent necessary to confirm 
Pathway’s ownership of the IP Rights in Work Product, Client shall and hereby does assign to Pathway any 
and all rights it might have in Work Product. Subject to Client’s compliance with this Letter of Agreement 
and payment of all fees owed to Pathway, Pathway grants to Client a non-exclusive, non-transferable, 
revocable, royalty free license to reproduce and display Work Product at Client’s facility identified on the 
cover page of this Letter of Agreement for the benefit of Client only. Client may not sell, sublicense, 
distribute, or otherwise make available Work Product to any third party. 
 

X. Liability Coverage 
The client shall maintain liability insurance coverage of at least $1 million single and $3 million aggregate. 
 

XI. Pathway Insurance Coverages  
Pathway agrees to maintain workers compensation and liability coverages in reasonable amounts. 
 

Page 44 of 77



 

XII. Governing Law 
“This agreement and all rights, remedies and obligations hereunder shall be governed by the laws of the 
state of Minnesota.” 
 

XIII. Survival 
The Indemnification, confidentiality, data privacy and recruitment clauses and payment terms will continue 
after the completion of this contract. 
 

XIV. Dates of Service 
This contract will start effective with the signing of this contract and will continue unless terminated by 
either party with a written notice of at least two (2) weeks. Any non-refundable expenses incurred as part of 
this contract will be billed, if two (2) week notice is not given in a written notice. 
 

XV. Change in Scope of Agreement 
A material change in the scope of this agreement needs to be accomplished through the completion of an 
addendum. 
 

XVI. Fees / Expenses 
The fee(s) for the project will be billed at following rate(s): 
Consultants  $175.00 per consultant per hour worked plus travel allowance and expenses when 
travel occurs. 
A travel allowance of $250.00 will be billed per roundtrip, per Consultant when travel occurs. 
 

The following expenses are billable expenses -  
   

Item Allowable 
Mileage Allowed 

Meals up to $60 per day Allowed 
Hotel/Lodging Allowed 

Airfare Allowed 
Car Rental/Parking Allowed 

All other reasonable expenses Allowed 
 

A. Overtime 
Actual onsite and on call hours in excess of 40 hours, not including travel time, will be billed at time 
and one half the contracted billable rate(s) for work performed by Consultants. 

B. Holiday Pay 
If client requires consultant to work on a federal holiday, time will be billed at time and one half the 
contracted billable rate(s) for work performed. 

 

Sales tax will be charged on products and services, when applicable.  If client is tax exempt, client must 
provide copy of their tax exemption certificate. 
 

Page 45 of 77



 

XVII. Retainer 
A retainer of $12,600.00 is due upon acceptance of this agreement, prior to work beginning and will be 
applied to the final invoice. The retainer is a non-refundable deposit credited against the completion of 
work.  
 

Pathway respectfully requests the retainer and payments be made electronically. Account numbers will be 
provided after the signing of the proposal. 
  

XVIII. Invoicing* 
A. Schedule 
Invoices will be forwarded weekly approximately two weeks after services are delivered. 

B. Invoice Format 
Invoices will be summarized by work performed. 

C. Invoice Communication Options 
Invoices sent via standard mail delivery. 

 

* All invoices (charges) are payable net 15 days from date of invoice. 

 

XIX. Payment Terms 
Court costs and attorney fees - If you are in default of the terms of this agreement, you agree to pay all costs 
of collection that we incur, including court costs and attorney’s fees, to the extent permitted by law. 

 
XX. Processing fee/ Interest rate 

Payments that are not paid when due and result in additional billing statements may be charged a ten dollar 
processing fee per additional statement. Payments that are 30 days or more past due may be charged 
interest at the highest rate permitted by law. 
 

XXI. Non-payment 
Pathway Health Services Inc. reserves the right to remove its employees from the client’s engagement 
immediately due to non-payment of bills by the due date. 
 

  

Page 46 of 77



 

XXII. Contact Information: 
 

The facility contact information: 
David Hautamaki, Interim CEO 
GRAND TRAVERSE PAVILIONS 
1000 PAVILIONS CIRCLE 
TRAVERSE CITY, MI 49684 
dhautamaki@gtpavilions.org 
586-854-2939 

 

Invoices should be sent to: 
David Hautamaki, Interim CEO 
GRAND TRAVERSE PAVILIONS 
1000 PAVILIONS CIRCLE 
TRAVERSE CITY, MI  49684 
dhautamaki@gtpavilions.org 
586-854-2939 
 
 

Pathway Health Services, Inc. contact: 
Peter Schuna, Chief Executive Officer 
Peter.schuna@pathwayhealth.com 
11240 Stillwater Blvd N, Suite 100 
Lake Elmo, MN 55042 
Toll Free: 877-777-5463 
 
www.pathwayhealth.com 

Pathway Health Services, Inc. billing contact: 
Ashley Kessel 
Pathway Health Services, Inc. 
11240 Stillwater Blvd N, Suite 100 
Lake Elmo, MN 55042 
Toll Free: 877-777-5463 
ashley.kessel@pathwayhealth.com   

 

Expiration of Contract 
This contract expires if not signed and returned within thirty days of the date of the contract. 
 
Signature below acknowledges the acceptance of fees and terms of service: 
 
              
GRAND TRAVERSE PAVILIONS Date 
David Hautamaki, Interim CEO 
 
              
Pathway Health Services, Inc.                                                              Date 
Peter Schuna, CEO 

 
Please review, sign, date and return via email. 

Pathway Health Services, Inc. 
11240 Stillwater Blvd N, Suite 100 

Lake Elmo, MN 55042 
Peter.schuna@pathwayhealth.com 

877-777-5463 
 

 

Page 47 of 77

http://www.pathwayhealth.com/
mailto:ashley.kessel@pathwayhealth.com


Page 48 of 77

dgratton
Text Box
7



Page 49 of 77



Page 50 of 77



Page 51 of 77



Page 52 of 77



Page 53 of 77



Page 54 of 77



Page 55 of 77



Page 56 of 77



Page 57 of 77



Page 58 of 77



Page 59 of 77



Page 60 of 77



Page 61 of 77



Page 62 of 77



Page 63 of 77



Page 64 of 77



Page 65 of 77



Page 66 of 77



Page 67 of 77

dgratton
Text Box
8



Page 68 of 77



Page 69 of 77



Page 70 of 77



Page 71 of 77



Page 72 of 77



Page 73 of 77



Page 74 of 77



Page 75 of 77

dgratton
Text Box

dgratton
Text Box
9



Page 76 of 77

dgratton
Text Box

dgratton
Text Box
10



Page 77 of 77

dgratton
Text Box

dgratton
Text Box
11


